

The President's Malaria Initiative and Other U.S. Global Efforts to Combat Malaria: Background, Issues for Congress, and Resources

-name redacted-Analyst in Global Health

April 6, 2009

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov R40494

Summary

In 2008, malaria remained a serious problem in 109 countries, although it was eradicated almost 60 years ago in the United States. Malaria sickens an estimated 247 million people every year; of these, nearly 1 million die, mostly children younger than 5 years old. The disease is caused by a parasite that is transmitted to a person through the bite of a particular mosquito. Infection can lead to fever, muscle aches, and, without effective treatment, organ failure and sometimes death. Although approximately 40% of the world's population is at risk of malaria, most cases and deaths are in sub-Saharan Africa. In the past decade, the U.S. government and international community have increasingly recognized the impact of malaria prevention, treatment, and control on the health, economic development, and social well-being of people and communities in many developing countries.

U.S. policymakers have demonstrated a strong interest in combating malaria. In May 2003, Congress passed the United States Leadership Against HIV/AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria Act (P.L. 108-25), which states, among other things, that a major objective of the U.S. foreign assistance program is to provide aid for the prevention, control, and cure of malaria, and authorizes funds to carry out these programs. In 2004-2006, congressional hearings on U.S. global efforts to combat malaria, especially those of the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), discussed USAID policies associated with purchasing and distributing commodities like antimalarial drugs and insecticides, providing technical assistance, and promoting program transparency, and questioned the U.S. strategy for fighting global malaria. In July 2008, Congress passed the Tom Lantos and Henry J. Hyde United States Global Leadership Against HIV/AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria Reauthorization Act (P.L. 110-293), which authorizes \$5 billion from FY2009 through FY2013 for U.S. global malaria efforts. It also directs the President to develop a comprehensive, five-year U.S. government strategy to fight global malaria, and authorizes the position of the U.S. Global Malaria Coordinator to oversee and coordinate all U.S. government programs to fight malaria globally.

In June 2005, President George W. Bush announced the President's Malaria Initiative (PMI), a \$1.2 billion, five-year initiative to reduce the number of malaria-related deaths in 15 sub-Saharan African countries by 50% by 2010. U.S. global malaria efforts include PMI, which is led by USAID and implemented in conjunction with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC); other USAID malaria programs; and CDC's global malaria activities.

From FY2004 through FY2008, USAID and CDC received \$915 million for U.S. global malaria programs, of which more than \$484 million was directed to PMI. During this time, the U.S. government also contributed more than \$3 billion to the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria (Global Fund), which funds malaria projects among other projects. For FY2009, Congress has appropriated \$391.9 million for U.S. global malaria programs and \$900 million for U.S. contributions to the Global Fund.

This report provides background on malaria's cause, consequences, and impact as well as ways to prevent, treat, and control it. The report discusses not only USAID malaria programs and CDC's Malaria Branch, but also efforts to coordinate these bilateral efforts with multilateral efforts. The report describes funding for U.S. efforts to fight malaria. Finally, it raises possible issues related to these efforts for the 111th Congress, such as U.S. malaria funding levels, U.S. program priorities and strategies, access to commodities, and oversight of U.S. programs.

Contents

Introduction	1
Malaria Background	2
Cause, Consequences, and Impact of Malaria	2
Prevention, Treatment, and Control of Malaria	4
Recent International Attention on Malaria	5
U.S. Efforts to Combat Global Malaria	6
U.S. Global Malaria Coordinator	8
U.S. Programs to Fight Global Malaria	9
President's Malaria Initiative	9
Other USAID Malaria Programs	.13
CDC Malaria Activities	.13
Funding	.14
Policy Issues	.16
PMI Structure and Scope	.16
Funding for U.S. Malaria Programs	.17
Reporting on U.S. Malaria Funding and Activities	.18
Balance Between Commodities and Technical Assistance	.18
Commodities: Accessibility and Affordability	. 19
Commodities: Effectiveness	.20
Disease-Specific versus Health Systems Approach	.22
PMI and Global Fund Coordination	.23

Figures

Figure 1. Estimated Incidence of Malaria, 2006	3
Figure 2. President's Malaria Initiative Countries	10

Tables

Table 1. Funding for U.S. Global Malaria Programs, FY2004 through FY2009	14
Table 2. U.S. Contributions to the Global Fund, FY2004 through FY2009	15
Table C-1. USAID Funding for Selected Countries and PMI, FY2004 through FY2009	27
Table C-2. USAID Funding for Non-PMI Country, Regional, and Central Malaria Programs, FY2004 through FY2008	28

Appendixes

Appendix A. Acronyms and Abbreviations	25
Appendix B. Selected Additional Resources	
Appendix C. USAID Funding by Program	27

Contacts

Author Contact Information

Introduction

Malaria's impact is widespread. Although eradicated almost 60 years ago in the United States, malaria remained a serious problem in 109 countries in 2008. Malaria is a disease caused by a parasite that is transmitted to a person through the bite of a particular mosquito. It can lead to fever, muscle aches, and, without effective treatment, sometimes death. Globally, an estimated 247 million people become ill due to malaria every year; of these, nearly 1 million die, mostly children younger than five years old. Approximately 40% of the world's population is at risk of malaria, but most cases and deaths are in sub-Saharan Africa.¹

In the past decade, the U.S. government and international community have increasingly recognized malaria prevention, treatment, and control as a fundamental factor in community health and economic growth in developing countries. Despite global efforts to eradicate malaria in many regions in the 1950s and 1960s, the 1990s saw a resurgence of the disease after national and international investments in malaria research and control declined. Many leaders expressed their growing concern about the negative impact of high rates of malaria infection and death on many developing countries during high-level meetings and summits, including the United Nations (U.N.) General Assembly. Many U.S. policymakers have, likewise, demonstrated a strong interest in combating malaria. In recent years, Congress has passed legislation that states that a major objective of the U.S. foreign assistance program is to provide aid for the prevention, control, and cure of malaria; required the development of a U.S. global malaria strategy; and appropriated increased funding for U.S. programs that fight the disease globally. At the same time, the U.S. government reorganized many U.S. malaria programs and changed program policies to emphasize funding for commodities (such as antimalarial drugs and mosquito nets), their effective distribution and implementation, and monitoring and evaluation activities.

This report provides background on malaria's cause, consequences, and impact as well as key interventions for its prevention, control, and treatment. It examines congressional activities related to global malaria, and then it describes U.S. programs through the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) that address the disease internationally. The report describes U.S. funding for these activities. It also raises possible issues for Congress related to U.S. funding levels, U.S. program priorities and strategies, access to and effectiveness of commodities, and oversight of U.S. programs. Except for CDC operational and applied research, this report does not describe U.S. government activities related to malaria research.² Appendix A provides a glossary of acronyms and abbreviations used in the body of this report. Appendix B lists additional key books, articles, and reports on malaria.

² For more information on U.S. government malaria research activities, which may receive funding through USAID, the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), and the Department of Defense (DOD), see USAID, "Malaria," in *Health-Related Research and Development Activities at USAID: An Update on the Five-Year Strategy, 2006–2010*, Report to Congress, September 2008, pp. 37-40; http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PDACL916.pdf; CDC, "CDC Activities: Malaria Research," April 23, 2004, http://www.cdc.gov/malaria/cdcactivities/research.htm; HHS/National Institutes of Health (NIH), National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) malaria research website, http://www3.niaid.nih.gov/topics/Malaria/research/; and DOD/Walter Reed Army Institute of Research (WRAIR) malaria website, http://www.army.mil/index.php?view=malaria.

¹ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Eradication of Malaria in the United States (1947-1951)," April 23, 2004; and World Health Organization (WHO), *World Malaria Report 2008*.

Malaria Background

Malaria is a complex disease that has been successfully eradicated in some parts of the world, including the United States. However, in other areas, eradication efforts have failed or not been attempted at all. Experts agree that it is important to understand not only the disease and its impact but also the recent history of international malaria efforts if ongoing efforts are going to succeed in controlling malaria where past programs did not.

Cause, Consequences, and Impact of Malaria³

Malaria is caused by *Plasmodium* parasites, which are transmitted to humans through the bite of infected female *Anopheles* mosquitoes.⁴ First, these parasites multiply in the liver; then they infect red blood cells. A week or two after someone is bitten by an infected mosquito, initial symptoms appear, including fever, shivering, headache, nausea, vomiting, muscle aches and fatigue. Without effective treatment, these symptoms may rapidly progress to include organ failure, delirium, convulsions, coma, and sometimes death.

Malaria infects people of all ages, but some groups — pregnant women, infants and young children, and people living with HIV/AIDS — are more vulnerable to the disease. Most cases and deaths, including more than 9 out of 10 child deaths from malaria, are in sub-Saharan Africa, but other regions of the world, including parts of Asia, Latin America, the Middle East and Europe, are also affected (see **Figure 1**). Those countries that have a fairly constant number of cases throughout the year are considered malaria endemic countries. In 2008, 109 countries were considered malaria endemic; of these, 45 were in sub-Saharan Africa.

³ WHO, *The Global Burden of Disease: 2004 Update*, 2008; WHO, *World Malaria Report 2008*; and WHO/United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), *The Africa Malaria Report 2003*.

⁴ There are four types of human malaria – *Plasmodium falciparum*, *P.vivax*, *P.malariae*, and *P.ovale*. *P.falciparum* and *P.vivax* are the most common. *P.falciparum* is the deadliest type of malaria infection.



Figure 1. Estimated Incidence of Malaria, 2006

per 1,000 population

Source: World Health Organization (WHO), World Malaria Report 2008.

Note: Incidence is the rate of occurrence.

The incidence of malaria appears to correlate to many other factors affecting the health, economic development, and social well being of people and communities in many developing countries. High rates of malaria in a developing country may negatively affect economic growth and demand a great proportion of public health resources. In 2003, 25-40% of all outpatient clinic visits and 20-50% of hospital admissions in malaria endemic countries in Africa were for malaria. With the scale-up of malaria programs in many malaria endemic countries, some countries report fewer malaria-related hospital admissions. Often, poor or marginalized populations are disproportionately affected by malaria. While experts debate whether poverty leads to malaria or malaria leads to poverty, some suggest that high rates of malaria can continue the cycle of poverty by draining financial resources and contributing to absenteeism from schools or the workplace. Additionally, many malaria deaths in Africa occur among populations affected by conflicts, which may experience malaria outbreaks due to disruptions in healthcare and malaria control efforts as well as exposure to different malaria transmission patterns.

Prevention, Treatment, and Control of Malaria

Experts agree that preventing malaria infections as well as accurately diagnosing and treating malaria quickly are essential to control the spread of malaria. Four key strategies for combating malaria are:⁵

- Effective Treatment with ACTs: Treating malaria early and with effective drugs shortens its duration and prevents complications and most malaria-related deaths. Several drugs are used to treat malaria, and they vary in cost, availability, and effectiveness. In most areas, donors or Ministries of Health prefer to use artemisinin-based combination therapies (ACTs), which succeed generations of antimalarial drugs, including chloroquine, that have become less effective in fighting the malaria parasite due to increased drug resistance. ACTs are made up of an artemisinin drug and one or more additional antimalarial drugs; using antimalarial drugs in combination rather than singly reduces the likelihood that the malaria parasite will develop resistance to a drug.
- **IPTp:** In many malaria-endemic areas, women may be given intermittent preventive treatment of malaria during pregnancy (IPTp) spaced doses of the drug sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine (SP) in order to reduce the rates of malaria-related low birth weights in newborn babies and malaria-related anemia in pregnant women.⁶
- **IRS:** Another way of reducing the transmission of malaria is through indoor residual spraying (IRS) spraying the inside walls of houses with a long-acting insecticide. By controlling the presence of malaria-infected mosquitoes through

⁵ Based on WHO-recommended policies and strategies and the President's Malaria Initiative (PMI) approach.

⁶ IPTp reduces the likelihood of malaria infection during pregnancy or, if the mother is infected, clears the malaria parasite from the placenta. Its use is recommended in areas with moderate to high levels of malaria transmission. WHO/Africa Regional Office, *Recommendations on the Use of Sulfadoxine-Pyrimethamine (SP) for Intermittent Preventive Treatment during Pregnancy (IPT) in Areas of Moderate to High Resistance to SP in the African Region,* October 2005.

IRS, malaria transmission can be reduced or interrupted. Several types of insecticides are used in the environment to control mosquitoes, and, like antimalarial drugs, they vary in cost, availability, and effectiveness.

• **ITNs:** The use of insecticide-treated mosquito nets (ITNs) is another strategy to prevent malaria-infected mosquitoes from biting people and transmitting the disease. These nets protect individuals or families from malaria when people sleep under nets hung over their beds. The nets also kill the mosquitoes. These nets usually retain their insecticidal properties for up to six months, depending on how frequently they are washed, without re-treatment. Some long-lasting insecticidal nets (LLINs) have insecticide incorporated into their fibers and last for up to 3 years.

However, the appropriate mix of prevention and treatment interventions may vary according to local conditions, including the presence of parasite resistance to antimalarial drugs (including ACTs and SP) and mosquito resistance to insecticides. USAID's selected interventions in a country also vary based on the pattern of disease transmission, the age and pregnancy status of infected persons, and whether activities are feasible and sustainable.⁷

Recent International Attention on Malaria

Malaria prevention, treatment, and control, which is increasingly recognized as a fundamental component of community health and economic growth in developing countries, has re-emerged as a major international concern in the past decade. In the 1950s and 1960s, multilateral efforts to eradicate malaria globally and in specific countries increased; some programs experienced setbacks or failure while others had more success. However, sub-Saharan Africa was largely excluded from these efforts. Reasons given for this vary: the region's high malaria infection rates; the costs associated with trying to eradicate malaria in many countries; and that the region included "areas inhabited by populations with primitive tribal organizations incapable of supporting complex administrative structures and high costs of malaria eradicated in coming years, but after investments in malaria research and control declined from previous levels and little attention was paid to sub-Saharan Africa, the 1990s saw the resurgence of the disease.

Several high-level meetings and summits have addressed the malaria problem in recent years, reflecting growing political interest in and public recognition of the negative economic and social impacts of malaria on affected regions. For example, in 1995, the U.N. General Assembly expressed concern about malaria's detrimental effects on many developing countries in light of increasing malaria infection rates. The Pan-Africa Malaria Summit of 1997 culminated in the Harare Declaration on Malaria Prevention and Control in the Context of African Economic Recovery and Development. In the Harare Declaration, many African heads of state invited "governments and other partners including multilateral and bilateral agencies to participate actively in a vigorous coordinated effort to control malaria in Africa" and pledged their

⁷ USAID, Report to Congress: Child Survival And Health Programs Fund Progress Report Fiscal Year 2007.

⁸ WHO, *Global Malaria Control and Elimination: Report of a Technical Review*, January 17-18, 2008; and J.A. Najera, "Malaria and the Work of WHO," in *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, Vol. 67, no. 3, 1989, pp. 229-243.

commitment to the African Plan of Action against malaria described in the declaration. A few years later, many African heads of state agreed to the Abuja Declaration on Roll Back Malaria in Africa, which set targets for reducing malaria's impact in Africa.⁹

Since the late 1990s, governments and international organizations have increased public sector investments in malaria control and research, the private sector has contributed funds to new business coalitions against the disease, and renewed coordinating efforts to reach new goals and raise more funding have gotten under way. The World Health Organization (WHO), the U.N. Children's Fund (UNICEF), the U.N. Development Programme (UNDP), and the World Bank launched the Roll Back Malaria Partnership (RBM), a partnership of organizations that aims to provide a coordinated global approach to fighting malaria. The U.N. General Assembly resolved to halt and begin to reverse the incidence of malaria by 2015 as part of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). Then the World Health Assembly of WHO urged Member-States to increase financial support and national planning for malaria control.¹⁰

U.S. Efforts to Combat Global Malaria

U.S. policymakers have demonstrated strong interest in combating global malaria over the past ten years. Recognizing the global impact of malaria and its relationship to global HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis challenges, Congress provided increased malaria funding for FY2001 through FY2008 through the Assistance for International Malaria Control Act of 2000 (Control Act, P.L. 106-570) and the United States Leadership Against HIV/AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria Act of 2003 (Leadership Act, P.L. 108-25).¹¹ However, in 2004 and 2005, criticism of U.S. global malaria policies grew among global health experts and other observers. Some Members of Congress also questioned the U.S. strategy for fighting global malaria, holding congressional hearings to examine USAID's malaria policies and introducing legislation to change the coordination, planning, and spending priorities of U.S. malaria efforts.¹² They expressed concern

⁹ U.N. General Assembly, Forty-Ninth Session, "Preventive Action and Intensification of the Struggle Against Malaria in Developing Countries, Particularly in Africa," A/RES/49/135, February 17, 1995. Organization of African Unity, *Declarations and Decisions Adopted by the Thirty-Third Assembly of Heads of State and Government*, June 2-4, 1997, AHG/Decl.1 (XXXIII); and RBM/WHO, *The Abuja Declaration and the Plan of Action: An Extract from the African Summit on Roll Back Malaria, Abuja, 25 April 2000 (WHO/CDS/RBM/2000.17)*, WHO/CDS/RBM/2003.46.

¹⁰ United Nations, *United Nations Millennium Declaration*, A/RES/55/2, September 18, 2000. The goals and targets outlined in the document are often called the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). The malaria goal is related to MDG 6, which focuses on combating HIV/AIDS, malaria, and other diseases, and is specified in Target 3. 58th World Health Assembly/WHO, *Resolutions and Decisions: WHA58.2, Malaria Control*, May 23, 2005. Resolution suggested by WHO, *Report by the Secretariat: A58/8, Malaria*, April 14, 2005.

¹¹ Additionally, in the Control Act, Congress recommends that the USAID Administrator consider the interaction of the HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, and malaria epidemics, while in the Leadership Act, it states that a major objective of the U.S. foreign assistance program is to provide aid for the prevention, control, and cure of malaria.¹¹ These actions elevated malaria on the U.S. global health agenda, alongside HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis.

¹² House Committee on International Relations/ Subcommittee on Africa, Global Human Rights, and International Operations, "Malaria and Tuberculosis in Africa," H. Hrg. 108-141, September 14, 2004, 108th Congress, second session; Senate Committee on Foreign Relations/East Asia and Pacific Affairs Subcommittee, "Neglected Diseases in East Asia: Are Public Health Programs Working?," S. Hrg. 108-848, October 6, 2004, 108th Congress, second session; House Committee on International Relations/ Subcommittee on Africa, Global Human Rights, and International Operations, "Malaria and TB: Implementing Proven Treatment and Eradication Methods," H. Hrg. 109-65, April 26, 2005, 109th Congress, first session; Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs/Federal (continued...)

that USAID's malaria programs focused mainly on technical assistance rather than purchasing and distributing commodities, such as antimalarial drugs and ITNs, and that malaria activities sometimes did not utilize effective interventions to fight the disease. Some also suggested that the agency was either unable or unwilling to provide requested information about programs' results and spending on malaria interventions and that U.S. malaria efforts might be ineffective. One Member noted that recent increases in funding for U.S. malaria activities coincided with a 10% increase in malaria-related deaths in Africa.¹³ At the time, USAID spent almost 8% of its FY2004 malaria budget and almost 10% of its FY2005 malaria budget on commodities.¹⁴

In 2005, U.S. policymakers tried to address such concerns and criticisms through several key changes to the policies and structure of U.S. malaria programs. USAID reorganized its malaria programs and altered its malaria policies to emphasize funding for procuring commodities and their effective distribution and implementation, program transparency, and monitoring and evaluation activities.¹⁵ That year, President George W. Bush also proposed the President's Malaria Initiative (PMI), a five-year initiative to halve the number of malaria-related deaths in 15 sub-Saharan African countries by 2010, and pledged an additional \$1.2 billion over the five years for U.S. global malaria programs through PMI.¹⁶ Some suggest the initiative was part of the Bush Administration's broader African development agenda, which sought to address poverty and disease, among other things, in sub-Saharan Africa. President Bush announced PMI the week before the 2005 G-8 Summit, which had Africa's development as one of its themes; during the Summit, President Bush urged other donors to increase support for malaria efforts in Africa. Although USAID operated malaria programs in many countries before these policy and program changes, these shifts led USAID to concentrate its malaria resources in fewer countries and regions, beginning in 2006.¹⁷ The agency also reported that its intention was to "combine all malaria activities into a single, strategic, global malaria program."¹⁸ Some suggest that PMI is the model for this effort and that, in time, PMI and non-PMI malaria programs may be combined under a broader U.S. malaria program.¹⁹

^{(...}continued)

Financial Management, Government Information, and International Security Subcommittee, "Examining USAID's Anti-Malaria Policies," S. Hrg. 109-139, May 12, 2005, 109th Congress, first session; and Elimination of Neglected Diseases Act of 2005 (S. 950, not enacted). S. 950 proposed establishing a U.S. global malaria coordinator, requiring a five-year U.S. global malaria strategy, and increasing spending on commodities while limiting spending on technical assistance.

¹³ Opening statement of Senator Tom Coburn in S. Hrg. 109-139.

¹⁴ PMI, "USAID Malaria Program Inputs FY2004," and "Malaria Program Inputs FY2005," http://fightingmalaria.gov/funding/index.html.

¹⁵ USAID, "Section II: Restructuring of USAID Malaria Programs," in *FY 2006 Report to Committees on Appropriations: USAID Malaria Programming, Report No. 1*, February 2006; and USAID/CDC Interagency Working Group, "President's Malaria Initiative Strategic Plan," July 25, 2005.

¹⁶ George W. Bush Administration, "Fighting Malaria in Africa," press release, June 30, 2005. This goal reflects international goals for malaria control, such as the RBM goal of reducing the global malaria burden by 50% by 2010. RBM, *Consolidating Progress and Moving to Scale With Action in Countries*, 3rd Meeting of the Global Partnership Roll Back Malaria, February 2-3, 2000, WHO/CDS/RBM/2000.13, Geneva, Switzerland, April 2000.

¹⁷ See **Appendix C** for more information.

¹⁸ USAID, "Section II: Restructuring of USAID Malaria Programs," in *FY 2006 Report to Committees on Appropriations: USAID Malaria Programming, Report No. 1*, February 2006.

¹⁹ Comments by Admiral Tim Ziemer, U.S. Global Malaria Coordinator, congressional briefing, February 27, 2009.

After the launch of PMI, Congress continued to express strong interest in U.S. efforts to combat global malaria. During a 2006 congressional hearing on U.S. malaria efforts that evaluated the changes in U.S. global malaria policy and programs, some Members applauded the creation and rapid implementation of the PMI approach in several countries but discussed the need for continued improvement in U.S. malaria activities.²⁰ In 2008, Congress passed the Tom Lantos and Henry J. Hyde United States Global Leadership Against HIV/AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria Reauthorization Act (Lantos-Hyde Act, P.L. 110-293), which authorizes \$5 billion from FY2009 through FY2013 for U.S. global malaria efforts.²¹ It also directs the U.S. President to develop a comprehensive, five-year U.S. government strategy to fight global malaria and authorizes the position of a Coordinator of U.S. Government Activities to Combat Malaria Globally (U.S. Global Malaria Coordinator).

During the 2008 Presidential campaign, then Senator Barack Obama pledged to make the United States a global leader in ending malaria-related deaths by 2015.²² The Obama Administration has stated that it "will continue to build on its commitment to save lives through increasing investments in global health programs ... while also emphasizing a commitment to HIV/AIDS, malaria, and tuberculosis through successful programs, such as PEPFAR and the Malaria Initiative."²³ It is unclear, however, whether the Administration plans to continue PMI's focus on 15 countries or instead adopt an approach that eliminates distinctions between PMI and non-PMI countries. Similarly, while Members of Congress have stated support for U.S. global malaria programs, Congress has not specified that certain countries should be targeted by U.S. malaria efforts, and some suggest that by authorizing the broader role of a U.S. Global Malaria Coordinator instead of the position of the PMI Coordinator, Congress indicated support for a more integrated U.S. approach to global malaria.

U.S. Global Malaria Coordinator

The U.S. Global Malaria Coordinator at USAID oversees and coordinates all U.S. government activities to fight malaria globally, including U.S. global malaria efforts in not only the 15 PMI countries in sub-Saharan Africa but also in other countries and regions that are not part of PMI. Initially, the 2005 creation of PMI brought selected USAID malaria country programs under the oversight of the PMI Coordinator. Through the Lantos-Hyde Act, however, Congress authorized the U.S. Global Malaria Coordinator position, outlining a broader role. This, in effect, replaced the PMI Coordinator with the U.S. Global Malaria Coordinator position.

An Interagency Steering Group advises the U.S. Global Malaria Coordinator and is made up of representatives of USAID, the Department of Health and Human Services, the Department of

²⁰ Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs/Federal Financial Management, Government Information, and International Security Subcommittee, "Bilateral Malaria Assistance: Progress and Prognosis," S. Hrg. 109-614, January 19, 2006, 109th Congress, second session.

²¹ For more information, see CRS Report RL34569, *PEPFAR Reauthorization: Key Policy Debates and Changes to U.S. International HIV/AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria Programs and Funding*, by (name redacted).

²² Comments made by then Senator Obama during the 2008 annual meeting of the Clinton Global Initiative, September 25, 2008. This goal is similar to one set in RBM, *The Global Malaria Action Plan: For A Malaria-Free World*, 2008.

²³ Office of Management and Budget (OMB), "Department of State and Other International Programs," A New Era of Responsibility: Renewing America's Promise, FY2010 Budget.

State, the Department of Defense, the National Security Council, and the Office of Management and Budget.

U.S. Programs to Fight Global Malaria

USAID and CDC are the primary U.S. agencies that carry out programs to fight malaria globally. USAID supports malaria programs in a number of countries, which may be divided into two groups. The first group consists of 15 countries in sub-Saharan Africa that are part of PMI. The second group consists of countries and regions that are not part of PMI but in which USAID carries out programs to fight malaria. These efforts complement USAID's central programs that address malaria, which are carried out by USAID's Africa Bureau and Global Health Bureau. CDC also carries out operational and applied malaria research and provides technical assistance to U.S. malaria programs or foreign Ministries of Health in a number of countries, including PMI countries, through its Malaria Branch. The U.S. government also contributes to multilateral efforts to fight malaria through not only financial support but also through project coordination and technical assistance to partners' efforts.

President's Malaria Initiative²⁴

PMI is the coordinated U.S. government effort to fight malaria in 15 sub-Saharan African countries with high malaria rates: Angola, Benin, Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Liberia, Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Mozambique, Rwanda, Senegal, Tanzania, Uganda, and Zambia. PMI is led by USAID and implemented by USAID in conjunction with CDC.

The U.S. Global Malaria Coordinator and the Interagency Steering Group selected the 15 PMI countries based on several factors, including whether a country had high rates of malaria, malaria control policies that were in line with internationally accepted standards, the ability to carry out these policies; and a willingness to work with the U.S. government to fight malaria. In the past, after a country was designated a PMI country, the PMI Coordinator would oversee the ongoing USAID malaria program in that country; now PMI country programs are overseen by the U.S. Global Malaria Coordinator.

Over three fiscal years, PMI's implementing agencies expanded PMI's activities to these 15 countries (see **Figure 2** for when a country's inclusion in PMI was announced). In FY2006, PMI began operations in the three initial countries – Angola, Tanzania, and Uganda, using some of USAID's FY2005 malaria funding to launch its activities. In FY2007, it added four countries – Malawi, Mozambique, Rwanda, and Senegal, and in FY2008 it added another eight countries – Benin, Ethiopia (Oromiya region), Ghana, Kenya, Liberia, Madagascar, Mali, and Zambia.

²⁴ PMI, *Saving the Lives of Mothers and Children in Africa*, First Annual Report, March 2007; PMI, *Progress Through Partnerships: Saving Lives in Africa*, Second Annual Report, March 2008; PMI, "Fast Facts: The President's Malaria Initiative," April 2008; and CRS Correspondence with PMI staff, March 6, 2009.



Figure 2. President's Malaria Initiative Countries

Source: PMI, Progress Through Partnerships: Saving Lives in Africa, Second Annual Report, March 2008.

Note: In Ethiopia, only one region (Oromiya) was selected for PMI support.

In these 15 countries, the main target of the PMI program is to reach 85% of those most vulnerable to malaria — children under five years of age and pregnant women — with a package of four prevention and treatment measures: treatment using ACTs; IPTp; IRS; and ITNs.²⁵

²⁵ PMI implementing agencies report that they set this PMI target in order to achieve the overall goal of reducing the number of malaria-related deaths in the 15 PMI countries by 50% by 2010. PMI, Second Annual Report, March 2008.

Commodities

Part of the PMI strategy has been to significantly increase spending on the procurement of commodities above pre-PMI levels.²⁶ However, PMI programs' support for specific commodities varies by country due to the contributions of other donors.

The PMI program supports the procurement of ACTs for the treatment of uncomplicated malaria.²⁷ As of January 2008, PMI reports that it has procured more than 12.7 million ACT treatments, of which more than 7.4 million have already been distributed to health facilities.

PMI efforts are often integrated with maternal and child health services as part of a package of health interventions to promote mother and infant health. These integrated programs provide pregnant women with a variety of commodities, such as ITNs, as well as health services and treatments, such as IPTp and immunizations, over the course of one or more visits to the doctor.²⁸ As of January 2008, PMI implementing agencies report that they have procured more than 1.35 million treatments of IPTp, of which more than 583,000 have been distributed to health facilities.

To deliver free or low-cost ITNs to the poorest and most vulnerable groups, PMI implementing agencies often partner with national governments and other organizations and donors in mass campaigns to distribute these commodities. These mass campaigns focus on child survival and may also include vaccination against measles or polio, Vitamin A supplementation, treatment for intestinal worms, and other maternal and child health interventions. PMI efforts also utilize existing programs (such as the maternal and child health efforts described above) to deliver nets. Most PMI-funded ITNs are provided free to vulnerable populations, but in countries where the policy is not to provide free nets, PMI may subsidize the cost of purchase or promote the commercial sale of nets. The PMI program prefers to procure and distribute LLINs, which are longer-lasting ITNs, and also aims to educate users about not only the benefits of ITNs but also their correct use. As of January 2008, PMI implementing agencies report that they have procured more than 6 million LLINs, two-thirds of which have been distributed; re-treated more than 1.1 million ITNs; and procured and distributed an additional 875,000 re-treatment kits.

To complement consistent, correct use of ITNs, PMI programs support the use of IRS as an additional method of mosquito control. In addition to educating local residents about IRS, PMI country programs often provide a supply of insecticide, which is selected based on local malaria conditions from a list of 12 WHO-approved insecticides, and train local personnel on its correct application. As of January 2008, PMI implementing agencies report that their programs in 10 of its 15 PMI countries have carried out IRS of homes, benefiting more than 17 million people.

²⁶ See **Appendix C** for more information.

²⁷ According to CDC, malaria may be diagnosed as uncomplicated or complicated (severe). Severe malaria occurs when *P. falciparum* infections are complicated by serious organ failures or abnormalities in the patient's blood or metabolism. See CDC, "Malaria: Disease," September 21, 2006.

²⁸ These efforts are sometimes part of an integrated approach to maternal and child health called Focused Antenatal Care (FANC), which is recommended by WHO. WHO states that FANC is a package of interventions usually provided over four antenatal care visits. Some of the services it includes are IPTp, immunizations, identification and management of infections such as tuberculosis and syphilis, counseling, prevention of mother-to-child HIV transmission [PMTCT], identification and management of obstetric complications such as pre-eclampsia, and birth preparedness. See WHO, *Department of Making Pregnancy Safer Annual Report 2007*.

National Malaria Control Programs

Part of the PMI approach is a "commitment to strengthen national malaria control programs [NMCPs] and to build capacity for eventual country ownership of malaria control efforts."²⁹ USAID cooperates with the NMCP of each PMI country's government by working within the overall strategy and plan of the country's NMCP. USAID asserts that PMI programs contribute to capacity building of NMCPs in the areas of pharmaceutical management, malaria diagnosis, IRS, malaria in pregnancy, and monitoring and evaluation. More broadly, as a part of procuring and distributing the commodities described above, PMI programs also address underlying capacity issues in PMI countries. As of January 2008, PMI implementing agencies reported that their programs had trained more than 29,000 health workers in the correct use of ACTs and more than 5,000 health workers in how to administer IPTp treatments.

Partners

PMI efforts sometimes operate alongside other U.S. global health efforts, including programs of the President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR). PEPFAR is the coordinated U.S. effort to fight HIV/AIDS globally. The Office of the Global AIDS Coordinator (OGAC) in the Department of State oversees PEPFAR programs, which operate in a number of U.S. agencies.³⁰ PEPFAR programs also operate in 7 of the 15 countries in which PMI programs exist.³¹ In these countries, PMI and PEPFAR staff cooperate on complementary efforts and share mechanisms for commodity delivery when possible.

In carrying out PMI activities, PMI implementing agencies partner with a number of multilateral organizations including the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria (Global Fund); WHO; RBM; the World Bank; and UNICEF.³² It also works with the private sector as well as non-governmental organizations (NGOs), including faith-based organizations (FBOs) and community-based organizations (CBOs). Some of these non-governmental organizations may help to expand PMI's reach through the Malaria Communities Program (MCP), a PMI program that funds efforts to fight malaria through NGOs that have not previously partnered with the U.S. government.³³

²⁹ PMI, First Annual Report, March 2007.

³⁰ For more information on PEPFAR, see CRS Report RL34569, *PEPFAR Reauthorization: Key Policy Debates and Changes to U.S. International HIV/AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria Programs and Funding*, by (name redacted).

³¹ The seven countries in which PEPFAR and PMI both operate are Ethiopia, Kenya, Mozambique, Rwanda, Tanzania, Uganda, and Zambia.

³² For descriptions of and weblinks to the organizations listed above, as well as other key malaria organizations, see **Appendix D**. For more information on the Global Fund, see CRS Report RL33396, *The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria: Progress Report and Issues for Congress*, by (name redacted) and CRS Report RL31712, *The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria: Background*, by (name redacted).

³³ PMI Malaria Communities Program website, http://fightingmalaria.gov/about/mcp/aboutmcp.html.

Other USAID Malaria Programs³⁴

As USAID has scaled-up its PMI activities in the 15 PMI countries, it has also re-evaluated its malaria programs in other countries, eliminating some altogether while concentrating resources in the remainder, in order to "implement programs on a scale that can achieve demonstrable results." In addition to its programs in PMI countries, USAID currently conducts anti-malaria programs in three other countries in Africa — the Democratic Republic of Congo, Nigeria, and southern Sudan. It also supports two regional programs, which are primarily focused on identifying and containing antimalarial drug resistance. These are the Mekong Regional Initiative, which operates in Cambodia, Laos, Thailand, and Vietnam, and the Amazon Initiative, which operates in Brazil, Bolivia, Colombia, Ecuador, Guyana, Peru, and Suriname. Additionally, USAID sometimes provides one-time assistance and humanitarian assistance (through the provision of commodities to fight malaria) to selected countries that would not otherwise receive malaria funding through USAID programs. It provided one-time assistance to Sao Tome and Principe in FY2008 and humanitarian assistance to Zimbabwe in FY2009.

The strategies used in USAID's malaria programs in these non-PMI countries vary depending on the country's malaria situation, national malaria policy, and the contributions of other partners. For example, in Nigeria, USAID reports that it supported the sale of more than 3.5 million ITNs. Another example is the Amazon Initiative: in this region, USAID focused its efforts on the adoption of ACTs as the initial malaria therapy and assisted countries with a variety of issues, including mosquito control, standardized approaches to monitoring resistance, and evaluating the impact of malaria in pregnancy.

CDC Malaria Activities³⁵

CDC reports that over the past three decades it has played a role in helping to develop and evaluate malaria prevention and control tools, including ITNs, IPTp, and ACTs, through its operations and applied research. For example, in cooperation with partners, CDC has played a role in studying the impact of malaria during pregnancy in sub-Saharan Africa and helped to develop and evaluate IPTp as a prevention strategy. CDC is also conducting similar work in Latin America. In Kenya, CDC supports a research station that conducts malaria field and laboratory research, disease surveillance, program support through technical assistance, and capacity development through training of Kenyan colleagues. CDC also supports other countries' malaria research efforts through technical assistance and collaboration, as it does in India.

In addition to PMI countries, CDC provides technical assistance to USAID malaria programs and to foreign Ministries of Health in malaria endemic countries that are not part of PMI. In the 15

³⁴ Based on CRS Correspondence with Dr. Trent Ruebush, Senior Malaria Advisor, USAID Bureau for Global Health, November 7, 2008; USAID malaria overview website, http://www.usaid.gov/our_work/global_health/id/malaria/; USAID, "Section II: Restructuring of USAID Malaria Programs," in *FY 2006 Report to Committees on Appropriations: USAID Malaria Programming, Report No. 1*, February 2006; USAID, "USAID Provides Malaria Assistance to Zimbabwe," press release, February 11, 2009; and USAID, *Report to Congress: Child Survival and Health Programs Fund Progress Report Fiscal Year 2007.*

³⁵ Based on CRS Correspondence with CDC, March 6, 2009; CRS Correspondence with CDC, March 11, 2009; CRS Conversation with CDC staff, November 5, 2008; CDC, international malaria activities webpages, http://www.cdc.gov/malaria/cdcactivities/index.htm.

PMI countries in sub-Saharan Africa, CDC provides technical assistance in program design, implementation, and monitoring and evaluation; and conducts operations research to identify and fill knowledge gaps.³⁶ For example, in Malawi, the CDC staff focus on strengthening the NMCP by helping to develop national malaria policies and guidelines. In Tanzania, CDC staff collaborate with the Ifakara Health Research and Development Centre on implementation and applied research, which helps to guide malaria control programs in Tanzania as well as other countries in sub-Saharan Africa. CDC's Malaria Branch will soon have staff placed in all 15 PMI countries as technical advisors on the PMI country team. It also provides technical assistance, especially focused on antimalarial drug resistance, to the two USAID regional initiatives in the Amazon and Mekong river basins. CDC staff may be detailed to USAID to support malaria programs at the regional levels. In addition to its role in PMI, CDC provides technical assistance in other countries that have high malaria infection rates, most recently in Indonesia, India, Equatorial Guinea, the Democratic Republic of Congo, Haiti, and Burkina-Faso.

Internationally, CDC works with multilateral partners such as the Global Fund, RBM, UNICEF, WHO, and the World Bank. In some cases, CDC staff are detailed to these partner organizations to provide expertise on a variety of issues, including policy development, program guidance and support, and monitoring and evaluation of progress toward international malaria goals.³⁷

Funding

The 2008 Lantos-Hyde Act (P.L. 110-293) authorizes \$5 billion for U.S. global efforts to combat malaria from FY2009 through FY2013. It also authorizes up to \$2 billion for U.S. contributions to the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria (Global Fund) in FY2009 and such sums as may be necessary from FY2010 through FY2013.

From FY2004 through FY2008, USAID and CDC received more than \$915 million for U.S. efforts to fight global malaria (**Table 1**). Of this, more than \$484 million was directed to the President's Malaria Initiative from FY2005 through FY2008.³⁸ For FY2009, Congress has appropriated \$391.9 million for U.S. global malaria programs.

	Current U.S. \$ Millions									
Malaria Program	FY2004 Actual	FY2005 Actual	FY2006 Actual	FY2007 Actual	FY2008 Actual	FY04-FY08 Total	FY2009 Enacted			
USAID	79.9	90.8	102.0	248.0	349.6	870.3	382.5ª			

Table	I. Funding for	U.S. Global	Malaria	Programs,	FY2004 through	FY2009
-------	----------------	-------------	---------	-----------	----------------	--------

³⁶ CDC, "CDC Role in the President's Malaria Initiative," provided to CRS by CDC, September 23, 2008.

³⁷ For more information on CDC's global malaria program, see CRS Report R40239, *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Global Health Programs: FY2004-FY2009*, by (name redacted).

³⁸ Since the creation of PMI, USAID's funding for malaria programs has shifted from smaller amounts of funding for many countries to greater amounts for fewer countries and selected regional and central programs. See **Appendix C** for data on USAID funding by program, including funding for PMI and other USAID malaria programs.

Malaria Program	FY2004 Actual	FY2005 Actual	FY2006 Actual	FY2007 Actual	FY2008 Actual	FY04-FY08 Total	FY2009 Enacted
Of which, PMI	n/a	4.3	30.0	154.2	296.0	484.5	n/s
CDC	9.2	9.1	9.0	8.9	8.7	44.9	9.4 ª
Total	89.1	99.9	111.0	256.9	358.3	915.2	391.9

Source: Prepared by the Congressional Research Service (CRS) from correspondence with agency officials; PMI, *Saving the Lives of Mothers and Children in Africa*, First Annual Report, March 2007; data provided to CRS by USAID, "FY2006-FY2008 Malaria Budgets," October 7, 2008; congressional budget justifications; and FY2009 Omnibus Appropriations Act (P.L. 111-8), and its accompanying Joint Explanatory Statement.

Note: "n/a" means not applicable. "n/s" means not specified.

a. Specified in the Joint Explanatory Statement.

From FY2004 through FY2008, the U.S. government provided \$3 billion for U.S. contributions to the Global Fund (**Table 2**). For FY2009, Congress has appropriated \$900 million for U.S. contributions to the Global Fund. Although Congress cannot direct the Global Fund to allot specific amounts of the U.S. contribution to projects aimed at a particular disease, the Global Fund reports that it awarded the following percentages of all contributions to malaria projects: 31% during round 4, 27% during round 5, 24% during round 6, and 25% during round 7.³⁹

Agency	FY2004 Actual	FY2005 Actual	FY2006 Actual	FY2007 Actual	FY2008 Actual	FY04-FY08 Total	FY2009 Enacted
USAID	397.6	248.0	247.5	247.5	0.0	1140.6	0.0
FY2004 Carryover ^a	(87.8)	87.8	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
State	0.0	0.0	198.0	377.5	545.5	1121.0	600.0
NIH	149.1	99.2	99.0	99.0	294.8	741.1	300.0
Total	458.9	435.0	544.5	724.0	840.3	3,002.7	900.0

Table 2. U.S. Contributions to the Global Fund, FY2004 through FY2009 Current U.S. \$ Millions

Source: Prepared by CRS from congressional budget justifications; correspondence with agency officials; FY2009 Omnibus Appropriations Act (P.L. 111-8) and its accompanying Joint Explanatory Statement; and CRS Report RL33485, U.S. International HIV/AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria Spending: FY2004-FY2008, by (name redacte d).

Note: The Department of State portion of the contribution was from the Global HIV/AIDS Initiative (GHAI) account, which is now included in the Global Health and Child Survival (GHCS) account.

³⁹ Founded in 2002, the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria (Global Fund) is the largest global funder of malaria programs worldwide. It is an international financing mechanism, not an implementing agency, that is supported by donor contributions. The Global Fund distributes contributed funds periodically through "rounds" in its grants process, which awards grants for projects that fight HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, malaria, or a combination of these diseases; or that engage in health systems strengthening. For more information on Global Fund spending by disease, see Global Fund website on "Distribution of Funding After 7 Rounds By Disease," http://www.theglobalfund.org/en/distributionfunding/.

a. In FY2004, \$87.8 million of U.S. contributions to the Global Fund was withheld per legislative provision that prohibit U.S. contributions to the Fund to exceed 33% of all contributions. The FY2005 Consolidated Appropriations Act released these funds to the Global Fund, subject to the 33% proviso.

Policy Issues

When considering U.S. efforts to address malaria, Members of the 111th Congress may wish to take a number of issues into account.⁴⁰

PMI Structure and Scope

Some malaria experts question whether the PMI structure is sustainable. A key concern is whether key distinctions between PMI and non-PMI country programs will persist, especially the disparity between PMI and non-PMI programs in resources. This, some malaria experts maintain, is not a sustainable approach to fighting malaria in Africa, because it does not recognize that progress in PMI countries may be reversed if malaria is not also controlled in non-PMI countries that have high rates of malaria, in light of the movement of people across borders and disease transmission patterns within regions. They argue that the PMI country selection process excluded countries with more complex malaria problems that may have required greater resources and where many malaria infections and deaths occur, limiting the U.S. response to malaria in these places. However, others assert that excluding such countries allowed more resources to be spent in countries with fewer program implementation and funding distribution challenges. As a result, implementing partners in selected PMI countries may have been able to progress more quickly in targeted areas and, through these experiences, learn best practices that might be brought to scale in non-PMI countries with additional resources and funding. Advocates recommend that Congress ensure that the five-year U.S. strategy to address global malaria, which Congress directed the Administration to develop in the Lantos-Hyde Act, addresses these issues.

Advocates urge Congress to expand PMI's scope to include additional countries. Supporters of PMI expansion maintain that non-PMI countries with high malaria infection and mortality rates, such as the Democratic Republic of Congo, Nigeria, and southern Sudan, would benefit from increased funding and resources. These proponents assert that PMI is a successful model for other bilateral malaria initiatives and that PMI has demonstrated measurable results that show improvements in malaria mortality rates. They contend that PMI has been successful, because implementing partners have applied many of the lessons learned from implementing PEPFAR to PMI programs. For example, PMI implementing partners have replicated PEPFAR processes such as having one country coordinator who oversees all projects and ensures that all initiatives utilize a common strategy in their execution; collaborating on program implementation and budget planning; concentrating resources on commodity procurement and distribution; and, to the extent possible, coordinating its efforts with other U.S. maternal and child health interventions. Even if the number of PMI countries is not increased, some who support expansion argue that Congress should extend the related mandates and strategies of PMI to countries with high malaria rates.

⁴⁰ Perspectives included in this section are based on CRS interviews and discussions with malaria and global health experts and staff from NGOs; think tanks; universities; international organizations; a private sector medical research institution; and U.S. government departments, agencies, and offices.

Critics of PMI expansion often agree with proponents that PMI is a model for other bilateral malaria efforts and that its approach to fighting malaria may shape the five-year U.S. global malaria strategy. However, PMI expansion opponents contend that PMI should remain limited to the current 15 countries to preserve and support progress toward the five-year targets in each country. They assert that expanding the initiative may distract from the public impact of successful ongoing efforts, which has positive effects for U.S. public diplomacy efforts and also increases recipient country support for U.S. malaria programs. One argument made by those with this view is that including countries with more complex malaria problems and much larger populations would require significant increases in PMI funding and extend U.S. commitments to recipient countries.

Funding for U.S. Malaria Programs

Some advocates urge Congress to increase funding for U.S. malaria programs to reach the Lantos-Hyde Act authorized level of \$5 billion from FY2009 through FY2013. This would allow PMI's implementing agencies to extend coverage to more areas; purchase and distribute more commodities; and expand access to related services, such as malaria education and technical assistance. Some malaria experts caution against reducing malaria funding. Supporters of higher PMI funding maintain that decreased support for ongoing U.S. malaria efforts might lead to drug and parasite resistance and threaten advancements made in controlling malaria in areas where U.S. programs have expanded access to key malaria commodities that control the disease.

In the absence of increased funding for U.S. malaria programs, many observers advocate maintaining current funding levels to preserve improvements in malaria control in PMI countries and to allow U.S. malaria programs to continue ongoing programs. However, if U.S. malaria programs were not able to realize greater cost efficiencies in purchasing and distributing commodities and other activities, current levels of funding would not allow programs to expand. One argument made by opponents to increasing PMI funding is that support might reduce available funding for other U.S. global health efforts. Over the past five years, funding for U.S. global malaria activities has grown considerably, while other activities, such as child survival and maternal health (CS/MH) and family planning and reproductive health programs (FP/RH), have received small increases in funding.⁴¹ Others, however, argue that malaria efforts were previously underfunded and that increased funding during this period reflects the U.S. commitment to adequately funding malaria activities and still remains less than CS/MH and FP/RH funding levels.

Some health experts assert that the debate about whether increases in support for U.S. malaria programs, especially PMI, come at the expense of other global health programs exists because overall U.S. global health funding is insufficient. This view holds that U.S. global health programs are inadequately funded relative to the challenges posed to global health by not only infectious diseases like malaria but also other issues such as chronic diseases, climate change, hunger, urbanization, and clean water and sanitation. Opponents of this view agree that global health challenges are considerable but assert that they cannot be addressed by U.S. bilateral

⁴¹ For more information, see CRS Report RS22913, *Global Health: Appropriations to USAID Programs from FY2001 through FY2008*, by (name redacted).

programs alone; they contend that leveraging current funding through coordination and collaboration with other governments' and multilateral malaria efforts is a better approach to resource and funding constraints. Some of these critics also maintain that malaria funding, like other U.S. global health funding, should not be increased in light of U.S. budgetary constraints, the conflicts in Iraq and Afghanistan, and other issues.

Reporting on U.S. Malaria Funding and Activities

Some health and malaria experts assert that PMI does not disburse funds quickly enough, which may slow the scale-up of malaria programs and limit the efforts of partners that rely on USAID funding. Other critics argue that PMI should be required to publicly report PMI funding disbursements in addition to the currently reported committed or planned amounts. They assert that it is difficult to evaluate the effectiveness of efforts without knowing how quickly funding reaches recipients.

Those advocating for stronger PMI reporting and transparency requirements also contend that with the increased authority of the U.S. Global Malaria Coordinator, the more stringent standard of transparency and detail in reporting that has been applied to PMI countries' activities should be expanded to USAID malaria programs in other areas. One argument made by these observers is that since the reorganization of some of these activities under PMI, public reporting of objectives and achievements in USAID's malaria programs outside of the 15 PMI countries has become less detailed and is often limited to overall malaria country and regional project budgets. Another argument made by some is that CDC's role in U.S. malaria efforts, especially in the area of technical assistance should be clearly and distinctly described in reports on U.S. global efforts to fight malaria, including the annual PMI report. Other experts assert that Congress should direct the Administration to address malaria challenges in non-PMI countries and regions, such as the Democratic Republic of Congo, Nigeria, and southern Sudan, in the new U.S. global malaria strategy.

Balance Between Commodities and Technical Assistance

Some experts argue that while PMI has increased the amount of funding available for commodities, the balance between providing commodities and technical assistance should be examined. Some malaria authorities assert that technical assistance is key to the design and sustainability of effective malaria control programs in countries with weak health infrastructures. While many such countries now receive greater funding for malaria control activities and donors often allow their funding to be spent on purchasing and distributing commodities, malaria experts point out that fewer donors support technical assistance. These experts maintain that the development of local knowledge of how to manage malaria will be key to preventing the disease from resurging as it has in the past when outside funding and international attention waned.

Other health professionals question whether increased funding for technical assistance efforts is prudent. They express concern about the cost of consultants and question whether money is better used to support commodities that are sometimes in short supply or out of reach for the most vulnerable populations. Those that make this argument suggest that, as in USAID's pre-PMI

malaria efforts, focusing on technical assistance instead of providing commodities does not give countries the health interventions and commodities necessary to reduce malaria infection rates and deaths.⁴²

Still, some malaria experts say that it is not a choice between commodities and technical assistance: they believe that comprehensive efforts to address malaria through U.S. programs should address both. They assert that while past efforts that focused on technical assistance without commodities did not produce significant results, today the contributions of many donors and national governments to global malaria efforts and funding might allow some programs to focus more on technical assistance while others emphasize funding for commodities.

Commodities: Accessibility and Affordability

Malaria experts and global health groups debate how the United States can best provide access to life-saving commodities in countries where there are high rates of malaria infection: through free or subsidized commodities or through market channels. Some health experts argue that the United States should ensure access and effectiveness of commodities by either subsidizing commodity prices or providing them for free. In the case of antimalarial drugs, for example, in 2004 the Institute of Medicine and other groups recommended that governments and international organizations subsidize the global market for ACTs.⁴³ At the time, ACTs cost about 10 times as much as the most frequently used drug at the time, chloroquine, which was becoming increasingly ineffective due to parasite resistance. Proponents say that subsidizing antimalarial drugs would help make them more widely available, decrease their prices, and, with accurate and quick diagnosis, delay the emergence of parasite resistance to antimalarial drugs.⁴⁴ Proponents of subsidizing other malaria commodities, such as ITNs and RDTs, make similar arguments.

However, opponents believe that malaria commodities should be provided for free in areas with high rates of malaria, because in these regions, many people often live in poverty and cannot afford the cost — even at a subsidized price — of drugs or insecticide-treated nets. One of the arguments opponents make is that providing free tools for preventing, diagnosing, and treating malaria would ensure access for the poor and protect health in the broader community by aiding, for example, the accurate and prompt use of effective antimalarial drugs or the use of ITNs, which both help to reduce malaria transmission community-wide. On the other hand, opponents of free nets contend that U.S. malaria efforts should support countries' capacities to either produce or purchase commodities through the private sector. For example, they believe ITNs should be provided through market channels, because they are concerned that giving away nets may undermine the market for them. One argument opponents of free nets make is that free nets

⁴² S. Hrg. 109-139.

⁴³ Kenneth J. Arrow, Claire Panosian, and Hellen Gelband, eds., Institute of Medicine Committee on the Economics of Antimalarial Drugs, *Saving Lives, Buying Time: Economics of Malaria Drugs in an Age of Resistance*, July 20, 2004.

⁴⁴ One proposed mechanism for such a subsidy that the United States might support, some argue, is the Affordable Medicines Facility—malaria (AMFm), which the Global Fund may host within its structure. However, in the Lantos-Hyde Act (P.L. 110-293), Congress states that the Global Fund should not support activities involving AMFm or similar entities until the U.S. Global Malaria Coordinator evaluates pilot programs and finds "compelling evidence of success." Global Fund, "Report of the Affordable Medicines Facility—Malaria Ad Hoc Committee," GF/B18/7 Decision, 18th Board Meeting, November 7-8, 2008.

may not be valued by recipients to the degree that purchased nets would be. They express concern that free nets would be used incorrectly or inconsistently compared to those bought at regular or even lower subsidized prices.

In addition to debates about pricing commodities for consumers, health experts and NGOs point out that the high demand for commodities created by donor programs, such as PMI and other donors' malaria programs, has led to supply shortages. Despite growing demand from programs like PMI, demand for these commodities from potential recipients is often not as high, due to a lack of education about malaria and the benefits of using these commodities as well as an inability to pay for them. In many malaria endemic countries for a number of reasons including few commodity producers, high start-up costs, and low profit margins — lack of sufficient commodity production capacity and supply persists, sometimes leading to "stock-outs," which is when malaria programs do not have adequate commodities on hand to carry out their activities. In the absence of additional producers entering these markets, some experts assert that without the involvement of initiatives such as PMI, which may negotiate for large orders of commodities, existing producers may be wary of increasing capacity without knowing that commodities will be purchased at a reasonable price at a particular time.

Some health and development experts recommend that donors and national governments address not only issues related to commodity supplies but also focus on commodity procurement and supply chain management to ensure that needed commodities are accurately forecast. They point out that better procurement and supply chain management would not only improve donors' efforts to negotiate for sufficient supplies and commodity industries' plans for production but also prevent stock-outs and the expiration of commodities before they can be bought and distributed. Other experts express concern that some producers may not feel that the low negotiated prices for some commodities make additional investments sufficiently profitable to increase production to meet forecasted commodity needs and suggest that perhaps commodity production should also be subsidized, either directly or through price floors for commodity producers, or made more attractive through incentives, such as tax breaks.

Commodities: Effectiveness

Concerns about how effective commodities may be are closely related to their accessibility and availability: as commodities to address malaria have become more widespread in recent years, parasite and mosquito resistance and misdiagnosis of malaria have become greater problems, impacting how effective or ineffective current commodities are. In some parts of the world, parasite resistance to some malaria medications and mosquito resistance to insecticides are increasing due to several factors, including varying degrees of accessibility or availability of commodities. Drug ineffectiveness has been a problem in past efforts to fight malaria when malaria parasite became increasingly resistant to commonly-used drugs such as chloroquine. An increase in parasite resistance to ACTs in some regions (particularly along the Thai-Cambodian border) has led many experts, including those at WHO, to express concern. Since chloroquine resistance was first noticed in this same area, experts worry that without careful attention to efforts to prevent misuse of ACTs, ACTs will become ineffective before an equally effective

alternative antimalarial drug is available. Parasite resistance to SP is also a growing problem.⁴⁵ Also contributing to the increase in drug-resistant malaria and, therefore, the risk of drug ineffectiveness is misdiagnosis of malaria or misuse of drugs and other commodities, where available. Misdiagnosis may be the result of several factors, including the difficulty of distinguishing between malaria and other diseases with similar symptoms when a lack of laboratory facilities or accurate, quick diagnostic tools (such as rapid diagnostic tests (RDTs)) exists in an area. RDTs allow healthcare workers to more accurately diagnose malaria, because the tests require only a drop of blood and 15 minutes before the results are known. Malaria previously could only be confirmed through laboratory tests that are not readily available in many malaria-endemic areas. While PMI programs procured 505,000 RDTs and distributed 101,000 of them as of January 2008, health experts recommend that malaria programs increase the number of RDTs available and distribute them more widely.⁴⁶

As drug and mosquito resistance to commonly used malaria commodities increases, many malaria experts maintain that malaria programs should not only address misuse of malaria commodities through education but also that donors and national governments should make greater investments in research and development of alternatives to current drugs and insecticides. Malaria experts emphasize that to limit the growth of resistance, donors and national governments' malaria programs need to address incorrect use of commodities through education and ensure that coverage with key malaria interventions continues to increase, especially in areas with high rates of malaria where the entire community benefits from high levels of ITN and IRS use. These experts also express concern that despite the possibility that current malaria drugs and insecticides may one day become ineffective due to resistance, the number of new drugs and insecticides being developed to prevent and treat malaria has declined in recent years.⁴⁷ They urge donors and national governments to invest in such research so that alternatives will be available when resistance increases, as it already is in some areas.

Many experts and policymakers express concern about the negative impact of counterfeit or low quality antimalarial drugs on the effective, safe treatment of malaria. Health authorities report that counterfeit and substandard antimalarials threaten not only the health of infected individuals — who believe they are receiving treatment but actually are not — but also the health of their communities. They assert that ineffective malaria treatment undermines trust in malaria treatment programs and regimens and also allows the malaria parasite to persist, which increases the possibility of further transmission of malaria within the community and may contribute to greater drug resistance. These health professionals recommend that national and international authorities create and enforce strategies to prevent the production, sale, trade, and use of counterfeit or low quality medicines.⁴⁸

⁴⁵ WHO, Global Malaria Control and Elimination: Report of a Meeting on Containment of Artemisinin Tolerance, January 19, 2008; and WHO, Technical Expert Group Meeting on Intermittent Preventive Treatment in Pregnancy (IPTp), July 11-13, 2007.

⁴⁶ MSF, Full Prescription: Better Malaria Treatment for More People, MSF's Experience, September 2008.

⁴⁷ WHO, "Malaria," Fact Sheet No. 94, May 2007; and Roger Bate, "New Insecticides Are Crucial in Battle Against Malaria," AELorg, February 19, 2009.

⁴⁸ For more information, see Roger Bate, *Making a Killing: The Deadly Implications of the Counterfeit Drug Trade*, AEI Press, Washington, May 2008.

Some debate surrounds the use of certain insecticides, especially dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT), by malaria control programs, including U.S. programs. Some environmental groups express concern about the possible impact of insecticides, particularly DDT, on the environment and on human health, arguing that these compounds may stay in the environment for years after their initial use and might enter the food chain. However, some malaria experts maintain that the amount of insecticides used for indoor residual spraying is a small fraction of the amount of insecticide used in agriculture. These malaria professionals contend that the risks to human health of not effectively controlling the population of mosquitoes that transmit malaria are greater than the potential risk to human health of using some insecticides. Some trade and development experts observe that insecticide use may negatively impact developing countries' trade relationships with other countries and regions, such as the European Union (EU), because of recent restrictions on the use of certain insecticides. Health experts, however, raise questions about the possible negative impact of such restrictions on the availability, affordability, and use of insecticides for public health purposes.⁴⁹ These health authorities suggest that donors and governments should support the market for public health insecticides (PHIs) by investing in research and development of new insecticides and promoting the use of effective insecticides for IRS and ITNs.

Disease-Specific versus Health Systems Approach

Some observers oppose a disease-specific approach to global health such as that taken by PMI, which they argue focuses too narrowly on only one disease. They maintain that such an approach ignores the interconnected nature of health care challenges and diverts resources from other health efforts.⁵⁰ They argue that in resource-poor countries, it could create competition for limited workforce capacity such as physicians, public health specialists, and U.S. program managers. Some experts argue that the United States must tackle the underlying weaknesses of many health systems in PMI-assisted areas, such as the lack of hospital and clinic infrastructure, laboratory facilities, and trained healthcare workers. They point out that the budgets of Ministries of Health in many PMI-designated countries are dwarfed by donor funding for disease-specific initiatives like malaria and that much of these Ministries of Health budgets often come from donor sources.⁵¹ This raises two questions, they argue, about the sustainability of disease-specific initiatives. First, are the achievements of disease-specific initiatives sustainable if donor support

⁴⁹ For more information on DDT use in malaria control, see Richard Tren and Roger Bate, *Malaria and the DDT Story*, Institute of Economic Affairs, 2001. For more information on the EU insecticide debate, see "Regulating Pesticides: A Balance of Risk," *The Economist*, July 3, 2008; and Jasson Urbach, "New EU Pesticide Legislation Threatens African Malaria Control Initiatives," HealthPolicyUnit.com, January 19, 2009. For more information on insecticides and their role in malaria control, see Africa Fighting Malaria, *Bias & Neglect: Public Health Insecticides & Disease Control*, December 2008.

⁵⁰ Some opponents of disease-specific initiatives argue that recent efforts like PMI and PEPFAR have negatively impacted USAID's ability to carry out other health sector efforts, such as maternal and child health programs. In FY2004, for example, USAID malaria funding was less than 5% of its global health budget, excluding U.S. contributions to the Global Fund. By FY2008, malaria funding was almost 17% of USAID's global health budget, excluding U.S. contributions to the Global Fund.

⁵¹ One study that appeared in *The Lancet* reported that "many health ministries have become donor dependent." It cited the cases of Tanzania, Kenya, and Uganda, whose health ministers reported that 40% to 60% of their ministries' budgets come from donors. See D. Sridhar and R. Batniji, "Misfinancing Global Health: A Case for Transparency in Disbursements and Decision Making," *The Lancet*, Volume 372, Issue 9644, pp. 1185–1191.

ends before eradication of a disease? This is especially problematic if Ministries of Health continue to lack comparable levels of funding or have not developed the expertise required to manage these funds and programs independently. Second, would Ministries of Health prioritize disease-specific efforts in the absence of donor-directed funding? In other words, would they instead prioritize spending on human resources for health, infrastructure improvement, basic health services, and strengthening their countries' health systems in other ways when faced with limited budgets? Disruptions in donor or national government support may lead to reversals in the progress made against diseases like malaria and associated problems, such as increased disease resistance to past prevention and treatment strategies.

However, some health experts support a disease-specific approach. They argue that, in light of the limited resources of many countries facing both weak health systems and high infectious disease burdens, U.S. efforts such as PMI are vital to arresting the deaths from these diseases. Some malaria experts maintain that without sustained, focused attention and donor-directed funding, large-scale eradication of diseases like malaria would be unlikely, as the history of malaria control and eradication has shown. They contend that disease-specific initiatives support the broader health system in which they operate by transmitting knowledge and building platforms through which other health initiatives may grow and cooperate.

Finally, some experts maintain that neither approach would be successful in isolation and assert that directed efforts on specific diseases should occur simultaneously with efforts to build health capacity and infrastructure. While they applaud the initial emphasis of PMI on malaria's prevention and treatment, these observers contend that in light of the authorization of \$5 billion for the U.S. global malaria efforts over the next five years, the initiative should further integrate efforts to combat malaria with the provision of basic healthcare and the prevention of childhood illness. Supporters argue that some major donors have already recognized the necessity of both approaches to achieving success in fighting particular diseases. One example is the Global Fund, which provides funding for not only HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, and malaria projects but also those that focus on strengthening health systems.

PMI and Global Fund Coordination

Some global health observers raise the issue of balance between U.S. malaria funding for bilateral and multilateral malaria efforts. The United States is the largest donor to the Global Fund, which is the leading financier of global malaria programs in the world, yet U.S. funding for bilateral efforts has been growing in recent years. It is unclear whether policymakers are concerned about the balance between U.S. funding directed to multilateral versus bilateral efforts to address malaria. While Congress has expressed strong support for increased bilateral malaria funding in recent years, it has not discussed whether funding for multilateral or bilateral malaria efforts should be examined with perhaps one exception. In 2004-2006, several Members noted during congressional hearings that U.S. bilateral programs did not adequately fund commodity procurement and distribution. Although the Global Fund is not an implementing agency, it does support the purchase and provision of malaria commodities through malaria project grants in many countries. Therefore, in light of subsequent U.S. malaria policy changes that now emphasize funding for commodities, some might argue that policymakers determined that U.S. support for multilateral efforts to provide commodities through the Global Fund were not sufficient and should be complemented by bilateral efforts.

Congress has, however, emphasized the need for coordination to prevent duplication of effort and to leverage funds among partners, which it reiterated in the Lantos-Hyde Act last year. In light of

the high levels of funding provided to both bilateral programs, especially PMI, and multilateral efforts to fight malaria, advocates maintain that it is essential for PMI and the Global Fund to coordinate their planning and funding activities. This helps to ensure that funded programs reflect country needs, are not redundant, and operate in a more cost-effective manner. PMI implementing agencies have instituted several processes, based on lessons from PEPFAR, to coordinate PMI programs and funding with the Global Fund. These include cooperating with the Global Fund through NMCPs and other country forums; supporting the development of Global Fund project proposals through these structures; and carrying out joint projects in PMI countries, such as one recent effort in which the Global Fund procured ACTs that the PMI program then distributed. Additionally, U.S. government representatives serve as voting members of the Global Fund Board and on the Board's Policy and Strategy Committee as well its Finance and Audit Committee.⁵² However, some malaria experts and global health observers assert that improvement is still needed to ensure that partners' capabilities are reflected in the division of labor in countries, especially with regard to funding technical assistance where other partners, such as the Global Fund, may be able to fund commodities. Others caution that PMI programs should not coordinate efforts to such a degree that the programs' abilities to respond quickly to country needs and reflect U.S. malaria policy priorities might be negatively impacted. Both views urge Congress to examine how U.S. malaria programs leverage their resources and funding in coordinating activities with the Global Fund.

⁵² Global Fund, Board of the Global Fund, http://www.theglobalfund.org/en/board/?lang=en.

Appendix A. Acronyms and Abbreviations

The table below defines acronyms and abbreviations used in the main body of this report.

Acronyms and Abbreviations

ACTs	Artemisinin-based Combination Therapies
CBOs	Community-Based Organizations
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
FBOs	Faith-Based Organizations
Global Fund	Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria
HHS	U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
ІРТр	Intermittent Preventive Treatment of Malaria during Pregnancy
IRS	Indoor Residual Spraying
ITNs	Insecticide-Treated Nets
Lantos-Hyde Act	Tom Lantos and Henry J. Hyde United States Global Leadership Against HIV/AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria Reauthorization Act of 2008 (P.L. 110-293)
LLINs	Long-Lasting Insecticidal Nets
МСР	Malaria Communities Program
MDGs	Millennium Development Goals
NGOs	Non-Governmental Organizations
NMCP	National Malaria Control Program
PHIs	Public Health Insecticides
PMI	President's Malaria Initiative
RBM	Roll Back Malaria Partnership
U.N.	United Nations
UNDP	U.N. Development Programme
UNICEF	U.N. Children's Fund
USAID	U.S. Agency for International Development
WHO	World Health Organization

Appendix B. Selected Additional Resources

This section provides a list of selected additional resources on global malaria. Inclusion of a resource in this list should not be interpreted as an endorsement by the Congressional Research Service of ideas presented therein.

Resources

Martin S. Alilio, Ib C. Bygbjerg, and Joel G. Breman, "Are Multilateral Malaria Research and Control Programs the Most Successful? Lessons from the Past 100 Years in Africa," *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene (AJTMH)*, Vol. 71, supp. 2, 2004, pp. 268-278.

Roger Bate, "Rolling Back Malaria: Rhetoric and Reality in the Fight against a Deadly Killer," *Health Policy Outlook*, no. 4, AEI.org, April 2008.

Nicole Bates and James Herrington, "Advocacy for Malaria Prevention, Control, and Research in the Twenty-First Century," *AJTMH*, Vol. 77, supp. 6, 2007, pp. 314-320.

Luke Gallup and Jeffrey D. Sachs, "The Economic Burden of Malaria," in *AJTMH*, Vol. 64, supp. 1, 2001, pp. 85–96.

The Lancet, "The U.S. President's Malaria Initiative," editorial, Vol. 368, Issue 9523, p. 1, editorial, July 1, 2006.

Samuel Loewenberg, "The U.S. President's Malaria Initiative: 2 Years On," *The Lancet*, Vol. 370, Issue 9603, pp. 1893-1894, December 8, 2007.

Randall M. Packard, *The Making of a Tropical Disease: A Short History of Malaria* (Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press, 2007).

WHO, *Macroeconomics and Health: Investing in Health for Economic Development*, Report of the Commission on Macroeconomics and Health, 2001.

Appendix C. USAID Funding by Program

Funding for PMI

Of the \$915 million allocated for U.S. global malaria programs from FY2004 through FY2008, over 71% (\$619 million) was spent on USAID malaria programs in the 15 countries displayed in **Table C-1**, which are all PMI countries now. A country's malaria funding increased after PMI became operational in it (as indicated by the shaded areas). USAID has allocated the following percentages of total PMI funding in the 15 PMI countries for commodities: 56% in FY2006, 52% in FY2007, 46% in FY2008, and a planned 50% in FY2009.⁵³

Program	FY2004 Actual	FY2005 Actual	FY2006 Actual	FY2007 Actual	FY2008 Actual	FY04-FY08 Total	FY2009 Planned
Angola	1.0	1.3	7.5	18.5	18.8	47.1	18.7
Benin	2.0	2.0	1.8	3.6	13.9	23.3	13.8
Ethiopia	2.0	2.0	2.6	6.7	19.8	33.1	19.7
Ghana	1.0	1.3	1.5	5.0	16.9	25.7	17.3
Kenya	1.2	1.2	5.5	6.1	19.8	33.8	19.7
Liberia	0.3	0.5	n/a	2.5	12.4	15.7	11.8
Madagascar	2.0	2.3	2.2	5.0	16.9	28.4	16.7
Malawi	1.5	2.1	2.0	18.5	17.9	42.0	17.7
Mali	1.8	2.4	2.5	4.5	14.9	26.1	15.4
Mozambique	1.5	2.1	6.3	18.0	19.8	47.7	19.8
Rwanda	1.0	1.0	1.5	20.0	16.9	40.4	16.3
Senegal	2.5	2.5	2.2	16.7	16.0	39.9	15.7
Tanzania	1.3	1.7	11.5	31.0	33.7	79.2	35.0
Uganda	3.0	3.0	9.5	21.5	21.8	58.8	21.6
Zambia	4.0	4.0	7.7	9.5	14.9	40.1	14.7
PMI Headquarters	n/a	4.3	1.5	10.0	21.6	37.4	n/s
Total	26.I	33.7	65.8	197.1	296.0	618.7	273.9
Of which, PMI	n/a	4.3	30.0	154.2	296.0	484.5	273.9

 Table C-I. USAID Funding for Selected Countries and PMI, FY2004 through FY2009

 Current U.S. \$ Millions

Source: Prepared by CRS from data presented in PMI, "USAID Malaria Program Inputs FY2004," "Malaria Program Inputs FY2005," "USAID FY2006 CSH Malaria Budgets," http://fightingmalaria.gov/funding/index.html;

⁵³ Calculated by CRS by averaging the percentage of funding spent on commodities in each of the 15 PMI countries for each fiscal year, based on PMI Malaria Operational Plans, http://fightingmalaria.gov/countries/mops/index.html.

data provided to CRS by USAID, "FY2007 and FY2008 Malaria Budgets," October 7, 2008; and PMI, "Country Operational Plans," http://www.fightingmalaria.gov/countries/mops/index.html, accessed March 17, 2009.

Notes: Shaded areas indicate when PMI became operational in a country. "n/a" means not available. "n/s" means not specified in funding documents available on PMI website as of March 17, 2009.

Funding for Other USAID Malaria Programs

Since the creation of PMI, USAID's funding for malaria programs has shifted from smaller amounts of funding for many countries to greater amounts for fewer countries and selected regional and central programs (**Table C-2**). In addition to funding for PMI and central programs through USAID's Africa and Global Health Bureaus, USAID now supports three non-PMI country programs and two regional initiatives.

Table C-2. USAID Funding for Non-PMI Country, Regional, and Central MalariaPrograms, FY2004 through FY2008

Program	FY2004	FY2005	FY2006	FY2007	FY2008	Total
Burundi	0.5	0.5				1.0
Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC)	2.9	2.1	2.4	6.7	7.2	21.3
DRC FY2005 Carryover		0.9				0.9
Eritrea	0.6	0.5				1.1
Eritreaª		0.3				0.3
Guinea		0.3				0.3
Nigeria	2.4	2.9	2.7	6.5	6.9	21.4
Sao Tome and Principe ^b					0.5	0.5
Sudan ^c	2.0	2.5	2.0	3.0	4.0	13.5
West Africa Regional	1.5	1.7				3.2
East Africa Regional	2.0	2.1	0.2			4.3
Africa Regional Bureau	2.6	2.8	1.0	2.0	1.7	10.1
Sub-Saharan Africa Subtotal	14.5	16.6	8.3	18.2	20.3	77.9
Afghanistan	0.4	1.0				1.4
Burma	0.1					0.1
Cambodia	1.4	1.4	1.5			4.3
India	0.4	0.7				1.1
Indonesia	0.7	1.1				1.8
Nepal	0.7	0.6				1.3
Mekong Regional Initiative			2.0	5.5	5.5	13.0
Asia and Near East Bureau	2.0	2.0				4.0
Asia Subtotal	5.7	6.8	3.5	5.5	5.5	27.0
Bolivia	0.6	0.8				1.4
Dominican Republic		0.5				0.5

Current U.S. \$ Millions

Program	FY2004	FY2005	FY2006	FY2007	FY2008	Total
Haiti	0.7	1.0				1.7
Honduras	0.3	0.3				0.6
Peru	0.8	0.3				1.1
Amazon Initiative			2.1	5.0	5.0	12.1
Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) Regional	1.8	2.1				3.9
LAC Subtotal	4.2	5.0	2.1	5.0	5.0	21.3
Kyrgyzstan	0.1					0.1
Tajikistan	0.1					0.1
Europe and Eurasia Subtotal	0.2					0.2
Global Health Bureau	29.4	31.7	19.7	22.3	23.0	126.1
Central Programs Subtotal	29.4	31.7	19.7	22.3	23.0	126.1
Total	54.0	60.I	33.6	51.0	53.8	252.5

Source: Prepared by CRS from data presented in PMI, "USAID Malaria Program Inputs FY2004," "Malaria Program Inputs FY2005," "USAID FY2006 CSH Malaria Budgets," http://fightingmalaria.gov/funding/index.html; data provided to CRS by USAID, "FY2007 and FY2008 Malaria Budgets," October 7, 2008; and CRS Correspondence with Dr. Trent Ruebush, Senior Malaria Advisor, USAID Bureau for Global Health, November 7, 2008.

Notes: Dashes indicate \$0 in funding.

- a. Not assigned due to mission closure.
- b. One-time assistance.
- c. Southern Sudan.

Appendix D. Selected Global Malaria Programs and Organizations

This section provides a list of selected programs and organizations that address global malaria, including bilateral and multilateral efforts to fight malaria. It also includes private-public partnerships, non-governmental organizations, international alliances, and a coalition of private industry. It provides a brief description of each entity, which is drawn from each organization's website. The programs and organizations listed in this section were randomly selected; their selection should not be interpreted as an endorsement by the Congressional Research Service.

U.S. Government Programs

• Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Global Malaria Program, http://www.cdc.gov/malaria/cdcactivities/index.htm.

CDC participates actively in global efforts against malaria through its Global Malaria Program and its role in PMI. Its work spans the spectrum of policy development, program guidance and support, scientific research, monitoring and evaluation of progress toward RBM goals, and technical assistance. It works in malaria-endemic countries with the Ministry of Health and local disease prevention and control partners, in malaria-endemic regional settings, and with key multilateral and bilateral Roll Back Malaria (RBM) partners.

• United States Agency for International Development (USAID) President's Malaria Initiative (PMI), http://fightingmalaria.gov/ or http://www.pmi.gov/.

PMI represents an historic five-year expansion of U.S. resources to fight malaria in the region most affected by the disease. In 2005, President Bush committed an additional \$1.2 billion in malaria funding to PMI with the goal of reducing malaria-related deaths by 50% in 15 countries in sub-Saharan Africa by 2010. PMI is an interagency initiative led by USAID and implemented together with CDC.

Other Organizations

• Affordable Medicines Facility-malaria (AMFm) Taskforce, http://www.rbm.who.int/globalsubsidytaskforce.html.

AMFm is an initiative to increase access to effective malaria treatment for people in endemic countries by making ACTs available at a much lower price, so more people will be able to afford them. Initiated in 2007, the AMFm Taskforce is a workstream of the RBM Harmonization Working Group.

• Africa Fighting Malaria (AFM), http://www.fightingmalaria.org/.

Founded in 2000, AFM is a non-profit health advocacy group whose mission is to make malaria control more transparent, responsive and effective. It conducts research into the social and economic aspects of malaria and raises the profile of the disease and the issues surrounding its control in the local and international media. AFM strives to hold public institutions accountable for funding and implementing effective, integrated and country-driven malaria control policies and to promote successful private sector initiatives to control the disease.

• Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, http://www.gatesfoundation.org/topics/Pages/malaria.aspx.

The Gates Foundation works with partners around the world and supports efforts to speed malaria research, expand access to life-saving drugs and prevention methods, and advocate for greater action.

• CORE Group Malaria Working Group (MWG), http://www.coregroup.org/working_groups/malaria.cfm.

Established in 1997, CORE Group is a membership association of international nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) whose mission is to improve the health and well being of children and women in developing countries through collaborative NGO action and learning. Collectively, CORE Group members work in 180 countries. The MWG supports existing national collaborative partnerships and promotes new partnerships in which NGOs can actively be engaged in national level policy formation and innovative programming to scale up malaria prevention and control. CORE originally stood for "Child Survival Collaborations and Resources Group."

• Drugs for Neglected Diseases initiative (DNDi), http://www.dndi.org/.

In 2003, seven organizations from around the world joined forces to establish DNDi.⁵⁴ The initiative fosters collaboration both among developing countries and between developing and developed countries. Its design is a blend of centralized management to give it a clear project-specific focus, and decentralized operations that mimic modern drug companies. DNDi does not conduct research and scientific work to develop drugs itself. Instead, it capitalizes on existing, fragmented R&D capacity, especially in the developing world, and complements it with additional expertise as needed. DNDi has built regional networks of scientists actively involved in the research of new drugs for neglected diseases in Asia, Africa and Latin America.

• FasterCures, http://www.fastercures.org/.

FasterCures' mission is to identify and implement global solutions to accelerate the process of discovery and clinical development of new therapies for the treatment of deadly and debilitating diseases. It seeks ways to amplify the productivity of the considerable resources and expansive infrastructure dedicated to finding new medical solutions.

• Global Business Coalition on AIDS, TB, and Malaria (GBC), http://www.businessfightsmalaria.org/home/home.php.

Founded in 2001, GBC mobilizes international business against HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, and malaria. The organization represents a rapidly expanding alliance of 220 international companies dedicated to combating the world's deadliest epidemics through the business sector's unique skills and expertise. Building on its success with HIV/AIDS, GBC recently

⁵⁴ These are "five public sector institutions – the Oswaldo Cruz Foundation from Brazil, the Indian Council for Medical Research, the Kenya Medical Research Institute, the Ministry of Health of Malaysia and France's Pasteur Institute; one humanitarian organisation, Médecins sans Frontières (MSF); and one international research organisation, the UNDP/World Bank/WHO's Special Programme for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases (TDR), which acts as a permanent observer to the initiative." See DNDi, "About DNDi,"

http://www.dndi.org/cms/public_html/insidearticleListing.asp?CategoryId=87&ArticleId=288&TemplateId=1.

added malaria and tuberculosis to its mandate, advocating business action in four key areas: workplace, community involvement, core competency, and advocacy and leadership. GBC is the official focal point of the private sector delegation to the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria.

• Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria, http://www.theglobalfund.org/en/.

The Global Fund is a unique global public/private partnership between governments, civil society, the private sector and affected communities that works in close collaboration with other bilateral and multilateral organizations to supplement existing efforts dealing with the three diseases. Since its creation in 2002, the Global Fund has become the main source of financing for programs to fight AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria. It provides a quarter of all international financing for AIDS globally, two-thirds for tuberculosis and three quarters for malaria.

• Global Health Council, http://www.globalhealth.org/.

Created in 1972, the Global Health Council is the world's largest membership alliance dedicated to saving lives by improving health throughout the world. Its membership is comprised of health-care professionals and organizations that include NGOs, foundations, corporations, government agencies and academic institutions that work to ensure global health for all. It works to ensure that all who strive for improvement and equity in global health have the information and resources they need to succeed. The Council convenes the Malaria Roundtable, which is a community space where individuals and organizations dedicated to policies and programs that reduce the global burden of malaria can meet, exchange information and share resources.

• Friends of the Global Fight Against AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria, http://www.theglobalfight.org/.

Friends of the Global Fight Against AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria is an advocacy organization dedicated to sustaining and expanding U.S. support for the Global Fund's lifesaving work around the world. Created in 2004, Friends supports the Global Fund by raising awareness about its lifesaving work with policy leaders and decision makers in Washington, D.C., as well as the media and the advocacy community. The goal of these efforts is to achieve both sustained governmental funding and meaningful public policy on the Global Fund and the three diseases.

• Global Subsidies Initiative (GSI), http://www.globalsubsidies.org/en.

In December 2005 the GSI was launched to put a spotlight on subsidies - transfers of public money to private interests - and how they undermine efforts to put the world economy on a path toward sustainable development. The GSI, in cooperation with a growing international network of research and media partners, seeks to lay bare just what good or harm public subsidies are doing; to encourage public debate and awareness of the options that are available; and to help provide policy-makers with the tools they need to secure sustainable outcomes for our societies and our planet.

• Innovative Vector Control Consortium, http://www.ivcc.com/.

The IVCC is a major research consortium which will develop new and better ways to control the transmission of insect borne disease. Five leading research institutions form the IVCC.⁵⁵ During the past three decades, there has been little progress in developing new insecticides for public health use in combating vectors (such as mosquitoes), which carry diseases such as malaria and dengue. The IVCC has been established to address problems such as the inefficient deployment of pesticides and the growth of pesticide-resistant insect strains by developing a portfolio of chemical and technological tools that will be immediately accessible to populations in the developing world.

• Institute of Medicine (IOM),

The IOM's mission is to serve as adviser to the United States to improve health. A non-profit organization specifically created to provide science-based advice on matters of biomedical science, medicine, and health as well as an honorific membership organization, the IOM was chartered in 1970 as a component of the National Academy of Sciences. The Institute provides a vital service by working outside the framework of government to ensure scientifically informed analysis and independent guidance. The Institute provides unbiased, evidence-based, and authoritative information and advice concerning health and science policy to policymakers, professionals, leaders in every sector of society, and the public at large.

• Malaria Consortium, http://www.malariaconsortium.org/index.php.

The Malaria Consortium is an organization dedicated to improving delivery of prevention and treatment to combat malaria and other communicable diseases in Africa and Asia. It works with communities, health systems, government and non-government agencies, academic institutions and local and international organizations, to ensure good evidence supports delivery of effective services. Started as a research center in 1992 working as part of the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, the Malaria Consortium became an independent NGO in 2003.

• Malaria Foundation International (MFI), http://www.malaria.org/.

The MFI is a non-profit organization, dedicated to the fight against malaria since 1992. The MFI works in partnership with many individuals and groups who have since joined this cause. The MFI's goals are to support awareness, education, training, research, and leadership programs for the immediate and long term development and application of tools to combat malaria.

• Malaria-Measles Initiative, http://www.measlesinitiative.org/.

The Measles Initiative is a partnership committed to reducing measles deaths globally. Launched in 2001, the Initiative — led by the American Red Cross, the United Nations Foundation, CDC, UNICEF and WHO — provides technical and financial support to governments and communities on vaccination campaigns and disease surveillance worldwide. Measles vaccination campaigns usually include additional health services: for example, between 2001 and 2007, the Measles Initiative and its partners supported the distribution of more than 31 million insecticide-treated bed nets for malaria prevention.

⁵⁵ These are the Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine; the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine; University of California at Davis, California; Colorado State University; and the Medical Research Council, South Africa.

• Malaria No More, http://www.malarianomore.org/.

Founded in 2006, Malaria No More is determined to end malaria deaths. A non-profit, nongovernmental organization, Malaria No More makes high-yield investments of time and capital to speed progress, unlock resources, mobilize new assets, and spur the world toward reaching this goal. The Malaria No More Policy Center works to raise awareness and galvanize support to address the global fight against malaria. Headquartered in Washington, D.C., the Center works with the global health community to engage policy leaders in the United States and in other donor nations to advance efforts to defeat malaria worldwide.

• Malaria R&D Alliance, http://www.malariaalliance.org/.

In March 2004, leaders and representatives of 15 organizations conducting malaria research and product development formed the Malaria R&D to raise awareness about the important role of malaria R&D in the malaria continuum and to develop a shared responsibility and increase resources for malaria R&D.

• Medicines for Malaria Venture (MMV), http://www.mmv.org/.

Medicines for Malaria Venture (MMV) is a non-profit organization created [in 1999] to discover, develop and deliver effective and affordable antimalarial drugs through public-private partnerships.

• Medicins Sans Frontieres (MSF), http://www.msf.org/.

MSF has been setting up emergency medical aid missions around the world since 1971. MSF is an international humanitarian aid organization that provides emergency medical assistance to populations in danger in more than 70 countries. In countries where health structures are insufficient or even non-existent, MSF collaborates with authorities such as the Ministry of Health to provide assistance. MSF works in rehabilitation of hospitals and dispensaries, vaccination programs, and water and sanitation projects. MSF also works in remote health care centers, slum areas and provides training of local personnel. All this is done with the objective of rebuilding health structures to acceptable levels. In carrying out humanitarian assistance, MSF seeks also to raise awareness of crisis situations.

• MIMCom (a project of the Multilateral Initiative on Malaria (MIM) and the U.S. National Library of Medicine (NLM)), http://www.nlm.nih.gov/mimcom/mimcomhomepage.html.

MIMcom was conceived by African malaria researchers in 1997. The mandate for Internet access to medical literature came from African scientists: "Access to e-mail and the Internet will promote rapid communication between investigators working at different sites as well as access to online literature and data available to scientists outside Africa." Having established or enhanced connectivity at 21 research sites in 12 countries, NLM's current focus is on products and databases to aid the efforts of malaria research.

• Multilateral Initiative on Malaria (MIM), http://www.mimalaria.org/index.asp.

The Multilateral Initiative on Malaria (MIM) was established in 1997 with a mission to strengthen and sustain, through collaborative research and training, the capacity of malaria-endemic countries in Africa to carry out research that is required to develop and improve tools for malaria control and to strengthen the research-control interphase."

• Program for Appropriate Technology in Health (PATH) Malaria Vaccine Initiative (MVI), http://www.malariavaccine.org/.

MVI was established in 1999 through a grant from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation . . . to accelerate the development of malaria vaccines and ensure their availability and accessibility in the developing world.

• Roll Back Malaria Partnership (RBM), http://www.rbm.who.int/.

To provide a coordinated global approach to fighting malaria, the Roll Back Malaria (RBM) Partnership was launched in 1998 by the World Health Organization (WHO), the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and the World Bank. The RBM Partnership is now made up of a wide range of partners — including malaria-endemic countries, their bilateral and multilateral development partners, the private sector, non-governmental and community-based organizations, foundations, and research and academic institutions — who bring a formidable assembly of expertise, infrastructure and funds into the fight against the disease.

• Rotarians Eliminating Malaria – A Rotarian Action Group, http://www.remarag.org/.

ReMaRAG, which was recognized by the Rotary International Board in 2005, functions as an umbrella association, building a network to keep tabs on Rotary projects in all corners of the world. The group has contacts in countries with malaria projects, and it acts as a resource to prevent duplication of efforts, promote best practices, and connect interested parties.

• UNICEF, http://www.unicef.org/health/index_malaria.html.

In recognition of its role as one of the biggest killers of children in Africa, malaria prevention and control interventions form an integral component of a minimum package of UNICEF's high impact maternal and child survival interventions. Integrated programming of this kind utilizes existing systems with relatively high utilization by target groups.

• UNITAID, http://www.unitaid.eu/index.php/en/.

In 2006, UNITAID was created as an international drug purchase facility to be financed with sustainable, predictable resources in order to facilitate access to drugs for the world's poorest people as part of the fight against the major pandemic diseases. As an economically neutral tool, involved countries agreed a tax on international air tickets was the most suitable instrument for raising funds. This mechanism seeks to fill a critical gap in the global health financing landscape: the need for sustained strategic market intervention to drive price reduction and increases in supply.

• VOICES for a Malaria-Free Future, http://www.malariafreefuture.org/.

VOICES for a Malaria-Free Future works to educate policymakers about effective programs and strategies for malaria control by highlighting successful anti-malaria efforts and evidence-based results. VOICES includes advocacy projects in four developing countries — Ghana, Kenya, Mali, and Mozambique — that promote progress made against malaria while also breaking down policy barriers that hamper effective prevention and control.

 World Bank Malaria Booster Program for Malaria Control in Africa, http://go.worldbank.org/H31FEKFWE0.

The Booster Program was launched in September 2005, translating the World Bank malaria global strategy into a results-focused effort to bring the disease under control on the African continent. The Booster Program has a ten-year horizon.

• WHO Global Collaboration for Development of Pesticides for Public Health (GCDPP), http://www.who.int/whopes/gcdpp/en/.

To strengthen WHO's Pesticides Evaluation Scheme (WHOPES) activities, to facilitate the search for alternative safe and more cost-effective pesticides and application methodologies, and to further promote the safe and proper use of pesticides and application equipment, WHOPES established the Global Collaboration for Development of Pesticides for Public Health (GCDPP). This collaboration provides a forum for exchange of information and ideas on issues related to the development and use of pesticides and pesticide application equipment within the context of WHO's global disease control strategies, and serves an advisory and resource-mobilizing role to WHOPES.

• WHO Global Malaria Programme (GMP), http://www.who.int/malaria/.

GMP is responsible for malaria policy and strategy formulation, operations support and capacity development, and coordination of WHO's global efforts to fight malaria. GMP establishes and promotes — based on evidence and expert consensus — WHO policies, normative standards and guidelines for malaria prevention and control, including monitoring and evaluation.

• WHO International Medical Products Anti-Counterfeiting Taskforce (IMPACT), http://www.who.int/impact/en/.

Responding to the growing public health crisis of counterfeit drugs, in February 2006, WHO launched IMPACT, which aims to build coordinated networks across and between countries in order to halt the production, trading and selling of fake medicines around the globe. IMPACT is a partnership comprised of all the major anti-counterfeiting players, including international organizations, NGOs, enforcement agencies, pharmaceutical manufacturers associations, and drug and regulatory authorities.

• WHO Tropical Disease Research (TDR), http://www.who.int/tdr/.

TDR, a Special Programme for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases, is an independent global programme of scientific collaboration that helps coordinate, support and influence global efforts to combat a portfolio of major diseases of the poor and disadvantaged. Established in 1975, TDR, is sponsored by UNICEF, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), the World Bank, and WHO. Its goal is to have the priority setting, research and development led and managed by scientific leaders in the countries where the diseases and problems occur. It believes this is a sustainable way of not only creating these tools, but making sure that they are distributed, used, and truly owned by the communities they can help.

Author Contact Information

(name redacted) Analyst in Global Health [redacted]@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.